
Phaneese Alexander died at 13 months of age.

Family Photo - Family photo

Police and CPS conducted multiple interviews in their investigation, but the case

was closed the next month after the investigators and an assistant district attorney

met with Dr. Shiping Bao — who had conducted the autopsy — and were informed

that the manner of death would be listed as undetermined.

Bao, who initially flagged signs of abuse, told investigators that he now believed

Phaneese’s liver was damaged by her spinal cord during CPR, but could not

determine what caused her fractured ribs.
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He said he had confirmed the victim had pneumonia and that he did not believe

her injuries alone caused her death.

As such, he ruled the cause of death as “sudden death with seizures, acute

hemorrhage in adrenals, broncho-pneumonia and rib fractures” and but left the

manner of death as “undetermined.”

A year later, Bao would make headlines after leaving Tarrant County to work in

Volusia County, Fla., where he conducted the autopsy on Trayvon Martin, a black

teen whose shooting death in 2012 sparked outrage. Bao was ultimately fired from

his job in Florida, not long after giving conflicting testimony during the trial of

George Zimmerman, who was ultimately acquitted of murdering Martin.

‘They don’t care’

Henz closed the investigation after consulting with the district attorney’s office

after the meeting.

“In these type of cases, we have to depend on medical experts. Short of a

confession, I have to go by what is told to me by medical personnel as to what

would have caused this,” Henz said.

Still, Henz said the uncertainty behind the girl’s death bothered him enough that he

kept the little girl’s photograph taped to his file cabinet for the remainder of his

years working in the CACU.

“She was a beautiful girl and had her whole life in front of her. She did nothing to

deserve to die at such a young age,” Henz said. “Looking at her picture would help

give me the energy to keep working these cases.”

CPS determined that someone had physically abused the girl prior to her death, but

could not say if it had been the girl’s mother or her boyfriend.

“The child’s autopsy revealed that the child had sustained injuries consistent with

abuse prior to her death, however the investigation was unable to identify who

inflicted the non-lethal injuries,” the CPS report states. “Both the mother and the

mother’s paramour served as caretaker for the child.”

The mother denied in a recent Facebook exchange that Phaneese was abused.
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“They can say the rib fractures were old but that had to be done when CPR was

done for more than an hour,” the mother insisted.

Williams said she met with police and even later the medical examiner’s office,

pushing for justice in her granddaughter’s case, but received only excuses, with

each agency blaming the other.

“They don’t care. She’s just another number rolling across the steel bed,” Williams

said.

She said she was told that the different agencies, including the district attorney’s

office, had discussed the case and decided there was not enough evidence to arrest

anybody or take the case any further.

“I never thought anything like that would happen. I know things fall through the

cracks, but not on a baby.”

Phaneese’s mother and her boyfriend broke up after the girl’s death.

Two years later, he was living with a new girlfriend in Arlington, when history

seemed to repeat itself.

‘Your son is dead’

Timothy Nevil had only been involved with his girlfriend for two weeks when he

was sentenced to eight months in jail.

While he was away, the girlfriend learned she was pregnant with his child.

But any hopes of their relationship continuing ended when Nevil was released and

chose to return to his hometown of New Orleans.

Nevil still wanted to be a part of his son’s life, though, and when King Felder

turned 3 months old, he returned to North Texas, ready to be a father.

THEY DON’T CARE. SHE’S JUST ANOTHER NUMBER ROLLING ACROSS THE STEEL BED.

Shirley Williams, grandmother of Phaneese

“
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He said his son had a glow about him.

“He used to walk up to me, grab my face and put his finger on my lips every time

when I fussed at him,” Nevil said, laughing. “He was so friendly. He always used to

smile. He had this sense of humor like no other. It used to light up my world.”

But their frequent visits stopped after Nevil married another woman, which did not

set well with King’s mother.

“She tried to hold King from me,” he said.
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Timothy Nevil, father of King Felder, said he has long held suspicions regarding his son’s death.

Timothy Nevil - Courtesy

The father and son’s last visit would be in August 2013, after Nevil’s new wife

reached out to King’s mother through Facebook, pleading with her to let Nevil

spend his birthday with his son.

“Everyone was asking me, ‘What do you want for your birthday?’ I told everyone, ‘I

want to see my son on my birthday,’” Nevil said.

King’s mother agreed, letting Nevil keep the boy for two days. It was a visit that

Nevil now thanks God he got to have.

“I know God works in mysterious ways,” Nevil said. “It was heavy on my heart to

see my son on my birthday.”

Less than a month later, on Sept. 2, 2013, Nevil and his wife noticed people
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sending prayers to King’s mother on Facebook. King’s mother called soon after.

“She didn’t have no sorrow. She wasn’t crying or anything. She said, ‘Hey, Tim. I

just want you to know your son is dead,’” Nevil said. “Those words will haunt me

until the day I die.”

‘I need to know the truth’

Nevil said he was told his son had fallen from his highchair while at day care on

Aug. 30, the Friday before. The mother told him that on Saturday, King had been

running in the kitchen when he slipped and hit his head again.

The mother told Nevil that she put ice on their son’s head and kept him up for a

while, as he was lethargic after the fall.

She said that early the next morning, her boyfriend found the child unresponsive.

He performed CPR on King, then drove the child to Medical City Arlington

Hospital, where the boy was pronounced dead.

According to the CPS report, King’s mother told investigators her son had two prior

accidental injuries, both at the day care, that resulted in King hurting his head. Day

care records confirmed the incidents but reported that the child sustained no injury,

the report states.

Nevil said a detective would later confirm to him that police suspected foul play in

his son’s death. The father said his own suspicions grew after he learned that the

cause of his son’s death was ultimately ruled as blunt force injury to the abdomen.

“The whole time she’s got me thinking it was a head injury,” Nevil said. “I wound

up calling her. I said, ‘Whatever you’re hiding, I need to know the truth. What

actually happened to my son? I said, ‘You’re lying. The autopsy don’t say nothing

about no head injury.’”

Page 14 of 25A tragic tale of two abused children in Tarrant County | Fort Worth Star-Telegram

11/12/2018https://www.star-telegram.com/news/special-reports/article153573004.html

047



King Felder “had this sense of humor like no other,” said his father, Timothy Nevil. “It used to light

up my world.”

Courtesy of Timothy Nevil

Nevil said King’s mother got hysterical and hung up on him. They have never

spoken again, he said.

Nevil, who returned to New Orleans after his son’s death, said he tried to get in

touch with detectives but was told only that the case was still under investigation.

“It really hurts,” Nevil said. “I always said once I get the funds, I’m going to Texas

and to try to get this case reopened. Get a lawyer. Just someone to do more

investigation than I felt they did.

“I just never had any closure,” he added. “Everybody tells me, leave it in God’s

hands. God is going to work it out for me.”
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King’s autopsy report showed the boy had bruises and abrasions on his head, torso

and extremities but no significant head trauma. Abdominal injuries, however,

including old and new fractures of the ribs, internal hemorrhaging and lacerated

organs, were noted in the autopsy.

“There is significant and likely serious to lethal blunt force trauma of the abdomen

that has occurred what appears to be several days prior to death,” Deputy Chief

Medical Examiner Marc Krouse noted on King’s autopsy.

In ruling the manner of death as undetermined, Krouse noted that the acute liver

and intra-abdominal injuries are consistent with the description of “untrained

bystander CPR” given by the mother’s boyfriend in his statement to Arlington

police.

He also noted that the day care facility used by the mother noted multiple conflicts

between King and other children, as well as occasional hyperactivity with the

potential for self-injury.

Nevil said that until he was told by the Star-Telegram, he did not know his son’s

manner of death had been classified as undetermined or that the boyfriend of

King’s mother had previously had another child die in his care.

CPS: Couple abused King

CPS investigators would conclude in their own investigation that the couple

physically abused the boy, leading to his death.

“While neither adult assumed responsibility for abusing the child, it is reasonable to

determine that either one or both of the adults caused the injuries, and that one or

both have covered for the other, and/or deceived CPS resulting in failure to protect

the child from harm,” the CPS report states.

CPS also stated that the mother committed medical neglect by not getting medical

attention for her son until after he was found lifeless, despite acknowledging she

was concerned about her son’s injury.

Because there were no other children in the house, CPS closed its case.
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Within days of King’s death, the boyfriend was arrested for violating his probation

in a 2009 possession of a controlled substance (cocaine) with intent to deliver case

out of Dallas. The boyfriend pleaded true to violating conditions of his bond and

was sentenced on Oct. 10, 2013, to nine years in prison.

He was released on parole in February 2016 and, that same month, married King’s

mother.

In a phone interview May 9, the couple denied abusing King. The boy’s mother said

CPS simply got it wrong.

“Just because CPS says reason to believe, that’s just a reason to believe,” King’s

mother said. “Doesn’t mean it happened or it didn’t.”

The boyfriend said he suspects King fractured his ribs in a fall from the highchair at

day care. He also denied hurting Phaneese, but declined to talk further about the

children’s deaths.

The couple say they now have a 3-year-old son together, who was placed under

CPS’ watch the first six months of his life. If they had abused or caused King’s

death, King’s mother questioned, why would CPS allow their son to remain with

them.

“He’s well taken care of. They did an investigation on our son when he was born,

too. They say he’s fine,” the boyfriend said.

Arlington police said in an email that homicide investigators were aware of the

previous death involving a child in the boyfriend’s care “but we had to work with

the current incident and could not use previous history against him.”

“The TCME Office ruled the cause of death as undetermined. No charges were

pursued after consultation with the DA’s Office,” Arlington police officials stated.

“We do not make decisions whether to charge an individual. The DA’s Office

determines whether to accept or reject a case and whether to present a case to the

Grand Jury.”

The DA’s office declined to comment on the case, calling it an “ongoing

investigation.”
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‘These cases give me grave concern’

The forensic pathologists asked by the Star-Telegram to review King’s and

Phaneese’s autopsies had serious concerns about their deaths.

All of them preceded their shared opinions with the caveat that they would want to

review other documents before giving a formal ruling, including pediatrician,

hospital, police and CPS records.

Carter said she believes the autopsies show that both children suffered from non-

accidental blunt force traumatic injuries that are consistent with physical abuse,

both acute and chronic.

“The fact that the same male is involved in both should have caused someone to

take a second look,” Carter said.

That neither of the mothers — nor the common boyfriend — could offer

explanations for some of the injuries only raises more red flags, she said

“Perhaps if someone had pursued this death from 2011, the death of 2013 may

not have occurred,” Carter said. “...These cases give me grave concern that these

children’s deaths did not receive the benefit of justice.”

Wecht and Downs said they could not disagree with the initial undetermined ruling

in Phaneese’s death due to other noted medical issues, but also believed more

investigation was needed into what caused Phaneese’s older rib fractures on the left

and right posterior sides.

“Where the hell did they come from?” Wecht asked. “That makes it a very, very

suspicious case. ...That’s not the kind of thing someone gets just from falling.”

Wecht said he has seen cases where CPR has led to rib fractures, and even a

lacerated liver, but he said King’s injuries went far beyond that.

PERHAPS IF SOMEONE HAD PURSUED THIS DEATH FROM 2011, THE DEATH OF 2013 MAY NOT HAVE

OCCURRED.

Dr. Joyce Carter, forensic pathologist

“
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“You do not get transection of the colon and hemorrhage into the pancreas from

resuscitative trauma and you don’t get it from a fall, front or back,” Wecht said.

Downs also echoed that the child’s bowel injuries could not have come from CPR

and expressed disbelief that Krouse would describe the boy’s abdominal injuries in

the autopsy as “significant and likely serious to lethal.”

“Are you blanking kidding me?” Downs asked. “Significant and likely serious to

lethal? No! These are devastating and not only potentially lethal, in this case,

absolutely lethal injuries.”

Downs said that while he would want to review the entire case, from what he sees

from the autopsy report alone, “I would be incredibly surprised if that were not a

homicide based on what I see.

“My provisional diagnosis would be homicide,” Downs said.

‘A very significant finding’

Peerwani called the opinions shared by the outside pathologists “disturbing because

they are made without full knowledge of the case.”

“It is easy to call a case a ‘homicide’ than to deliberate with care,” Peerwani said.

He said all child deaths are peer-reviewed by the office’s seven pathologists, as well

as the senior forensic department staff. In addition, he said, once a month, he

invites involved agencies like police and CPS to a meeting to discuss and share

information on children’s cases in which the deaths do not appear to be from

natural causes, often before rulings are handed down.

Downs said that while reviews can be beneficial, those done by peers also run the

risk of colleagues merely placating one another and “rubber stamping” findings.

“You’re going to go against the deputy chief’s opinion?” Downs asked. “Do you

really value your job?

“And just because I have a consensus — I have a lot of people agree with me —

doesn’t make me right,” Downs said. “I don’t know why these people agreed.

Guess what, there was a consensus the world was flat.”
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Though both Phaneese’s and King’s deaths have been the subject of prior peer

reviews, Peerwani agreed to reopen and review the cases after being contacted by

the Star-Telegram.

During that review, Peerwani said forensic pathologists discovered something

previously missed by Bao in his autopsy of Phaneese in 2011 — the girl had sickle

cell trait.
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Dr. Nizam Peerwani said all child deaths are peer-reviewed by the Tarrant County medical

examiner’s office’s seven pathologists, as well as the senior forensic department staff.

Ron T. Ennis - Star-Telegram archives

He says this was confirmed by a newborn screening conducted by the state, the

results of which, he said, had not been included in the medical records previously

provided by the girl’s pediatrician after her death.

Williams said, to her knowledge, no one in the family had ever been told that

Phaneese had sickle cell trait.

Peerwani said evidence of sickle cells were found in the girl’s organs, including

throughout her brain, leading them now to believe that the girl had sepsis, which

brought on a sickle cell crisis.

“Sickle crisis is a very significant finding,” said Dr. Susan Roe, a Tarrant County

deputy medical examiner.

With the new discovery, Peerwani said he plans to amend her death to “natural.”

“Was this child abused? The answer is yes,” Peerwani said, pointing to the girls’ old

posterior rib fractures as evidence. But he said the rib fractures didn’t cause her

death.

He said he believes the acute rib fractures, as well as the liver laceration, did occur

from CPR.
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Peerwani said medical and forensic literature have described several injuries that

can occur from resuscitation, among them perforations of the stomach and colon,

liver, spleen and pancreatic lacerations, rupture of the heart and rib fractures.

‘The children suffer’

Peerwani said he also believes that King was abused and calls the boy’s death

concerning, but said he will keep the boy’s ruling as undetermined as “we have no

evidence to show it as a homicide yet.

“Being concerned and then having enough information to leap to homicide are two

different things,” Roe said. “We are very concerned about the case.”

Peerwani said King’s mesa colon, the mesentery that supplies blood to the colon,

was cut likely a week before his death. That injury, Peerwani said, led to necrosis of

King’s colon, leaving the boy susceptible to spontaneous rupture or rupture with

even minor trauma.

“We have no idea how this injury occurred,” Peerwani said, adding it could have

occurred through abuse, fighting at day care, or falling down.

He said day care notes indicate the boy was occasionally hyperactive and prone to

altercations with the potential for self-injury.

“We aren’t calling it an accidental death. We’re putting it back on the shoulders of

the DA and police department, saying we are concerned about this case. This is an

unnatural death,” Peerwani said.

Downs countered that an internal visceral injury is extremely painful and, if

accidental, would have likely prompted the child to mention the event that caused

it and/or the pain.

“Bowel ruptures take significant force — otherwise, all those football players who

get blocked and tackled all over Texas on Friday nights and in pee-wee games

would be dying in droves,” Downs said.

Downs said he’d need to look at photos and microscopic samples to make better

sense of the case.
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“Sadly, it appears that sometimes ego — and fear of looking ‘wrong’ — stand in the

way of our shared values of truth and justice ... so the children suffer,” he said. “In

fact, twice — once at the hands of their killers and again at the caprices of the ME

[medical examiner].”

Williams, Phaneese’s grandmother, said she is suspicious of why the medical

examiner’s office has just now — six years after her granddaughter’s death — come

up with a new explanation for the cause.

“I don’t believe them,” she said. “I really don’t.”

She continues to believe her granddaughter’s death was from abuse and that, if the

case had been handled properly, King’s death may have been prevented, too.

“I feel so sorry for Phaneese and poor King,” she said. “But I know one thing. I

know there’s a God and I know there is angels working and I know the truth will be

revealed. I may be dead and gone but the truth will be revealed.”

Deanna Boyd: 817-390-7655, @deannaboyd
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Autopsy photos are often used to refute official conclusions
Sidebar

From the Spring 2001 issue of The News Media & The Law, page 9.

The death of Dale Earnhardt has prompted legislators in many states to ask whether autopsy photos should be available to

the public. The question is whether the privacy interest of the deceased or his or her family should outweigh the public's

interest in having access to autopsy photographs.

In passing the Earnhardt Family Relief Act, the Florida legislature apparently dismissed the importance of public access to

autopsy photos with little consideration.

However, autopsy photos often are the best evidence in cases involving everything from government cover-ups to strange

crimes. While written autopsy reports are potentially tainted by the perspectives or motivations of the examiner, photos

provide objective evidence for third parties.

The best, and a recurring, example of the benefit of access to these photographs is the death of someone in police custody.

On occasion, an official police response will say the person died from a heart attack, with confirmation from the autopsy

report. However, past cases have revealed that the cause of death may be something other than that announced by police.

Frank Valdes died while on death row in Florida in 1999. The guards originally claimed that Valdes' injuries were self-

inflicted when he threw himself off a bunk bed and thrashed around a room. However, the photos clearly showed boot prints

embedded in his skin from a brutal beating. Other guards eventually came forward because of the proof and admitted that

Valdes had been brutally beaten.

The 1995 death of Moises DeLao in Pasadena, Texas, is another example. DeLao was arrested for public intoxication and

was waiting to be bailed out of jail. Authorities found him hanging by an electrical cord. The police claimed DeLao

committed suicide and the medical examiner concurred. But the medical examiner's report did not mention that DeLao's

body was covered in bruises or that he had broken bones in his hands. DeLao's family did not believe DeLao would have

killed himself. They hired an attorney and pursued a case against the police, discovering the autopsy photos and finding that

the medical examiner completely failed to note in the written report that DeLao had been badly beaten.

Similarly, in 1992, the family of Donald Fleming of Buffalo, N.Y., questioned the official cause of his death. Fleming was

arrested for robbery and died while in police custody. The medical examiner claimed that Fleming died as a result of a heart

attack brought on by cocaine abuse or sickle cell traits. However, witnesses claimed that Fleming had been badly beaten and

photos taken after the autopsy showed serious bruises and other signs of a beating. In fact, the funeral director called the

medical examiner to the funeral home because he found a giant gash on Fleming's head, but the medical examiner had

reported that there were no marks on Fleming's body.

Autopsy photographs have also helped clear an innocent British man accused of murder. In 1998, Patrick Nicholls, who had

served 23 years in prison, was released from jail when a judge found that the autopsy photos proved that the alleged murder

victim had died from a heart attack rather than from a beating.

Examples of the benefit of public access to autopsy photos:

• 2000: Jonathan Burton died while on a Southwest Airlines flight. It was undisputed that Burton began acting strangely on

the plane and tried to kick in the cockpit door. After his death, however, Southwest Airlines claimed that Burton died of a

heart attack. The autopsy later showed that Burton was asphyxiated and some media reports stated that photos showed

bruises and other signs he was badly beaten.

• 1999: A Tucson, Ariz., publisher won the right to access and publish autopsy photographs of Mexicans shot to death when

they attempted to enter the U.S. The publisher argued that the photos showed the Immigration and Naturalization Service

had a policy of shooting and killing some illegal immigrants rather than detaining or subduing them.

• 1998: National Guard Capt. Gordon Hess was found dead with more than 20 stab wounds. An Army examiner concluded

that his death was a suicide. A later investigator examined the body and concluded Hess was murdered. The examinations

relied largely on prior reports, including photos.
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• 1997: Massachusetts nanny Louise Woodward was tried for murder. Prosecutors alleged she killed an infant by brutally

shaking him. After her trial, Woodward's attorney's claimed that the child's autopsy photos would prove Woodward's

innocence, but argued that they had not been given clear copies of the photos.

• 1995: Lisa McPherson died while in the care of Church of Scientology staffers in Florida. Her family had sued the church,

alleging that they abused and neglected McPherson. The St. Petersburg Times won the right to obtain the autopsy photos.

The photos showed numerous insect bites and other strange marks on her body.

• 1995: After decades of dispute, the family of President John F. Kennedy allowed independent experts to examine the

autopsy photos and x-rays from the assassination of the president. The experts relied upon the photographic evidence to

conclude that there were two shooters.

• 1995: Pittsburgh Steelers player Ray Seals claimed something was suspicious about the death of his cousin Jonny

Gammage, who was in policy custody. A coroner promised to release the autopsy photos to clear up any concerns that foul

play may have been involved.

• 1993: The death of Vince Foster, a White House deputy counsel in the Clinton administration, was ruled a suicide, but

photographs of the crime scene and from the autopsy allegedly show conflicting evidence and have led some to question the

official report. Although experts may dispute what happened to Vince Foster, most agree that access to the photos is

important for them to evaluate what occurred.

Autopsy records, including photos, also can be used by researchers to evaluate health risks. A 1998 study on the health

effect of soy was based on autopsies and showed that Japanese men are less likely than American men to die of prostate

cancer probably due to soy intake.

In one instance, the lack of autopsy photos proved to be an important factor. In 1999, the Washington Post published an

investigative article concerning the high number of deaths among the mentally retarded in the District of Columbia who

participated in its housing program. Out of 116 deaths, only eight autopsies were performed and none of the cases were

investigated, despite a law requiring unexpected deaths to be reviewed. -- AG

The News Media and The Law, Spring 2001

Page 2 of 2Autopsy photos are often used to refute official conclusions | Reporters Committee for Fr...

11/12/2018https://www.rcfp.org/browse-media-law-resources/news-media-law/news-media-and-law...

060



Matthew W hitaker W ildfires Stan Lee Midterms SNL W orld W ar I Howard Hughes

A FLY ON A VERY,VERY NICE W ALL FOLLOW US

Sponsored by Cirque Du Soleil

A Whole New Awe-inspiring Wayto Experience
Cirque du Soleil
For one night only,Cirque du Soleil in Cinema transports its

internationally acclaimed show KURIOS -Cabinet of Curiosities to

the big screen

See More

Sixteen Shots
Chicago police have told their version of how 17-year-old blackteen Laquan McDonald died.The autopsy tells a
different story.
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How could an incident that began with the responding officers assessing the situation and deciding

they needed a Taser end a few minutes later with 16bullets striking Laquan McDonald?
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An autopsy tells a story.The genre is mystery: a narrative set in motion by a corpse.The pathologist-narrator investigates

the cause of death in precise,descriptive prose that ultimately allows the dead to testify about what happened to them.In

the case of Laquan McDonald,a 17-year-old blackyouth killed by Chicago police on Oct.20,2014,the autopsy raises

questions not only about how he died,but about how the Chicago Police Department has handled the case since.W hile it

does not provide all the details of what transpired that night,the autopsy makes one thing clear: The account of the incident

given by the police cannot be true.
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Here is what police at the scene told reporters: At around 9:45 p.m.,a squad car responded to a call that someone was

trying to breakinto cars in an industrial area on the southwest side of Chicago.The officers found a boy,Laquan

McDonald,standing in the street with a knife.They observed him stabbing the tires of a vehicle.W hen they ordered him to

drop the knife,he ignored them and walked away,down the street.

Pat Camden,a longtime Chicago Police Department press spokesman who now performs that function for the police union,

later described McDonald as having had “a strange gaze about him … he’s got a 100-yard stare … he’s staring blankly.”

The responding officers didn’t have a Taser.W aiting for one to arrive,they followed McDonald in their vehicle.A second

squad car arrived.McDonald again refused to drop the knife.The police tried to use the two vehicles to boxhim in against

a construction fence on Pulaski Road.He punctured a tire and damaged the front windshield of one of the police cars.

Officers got out of their vehicles.McDonald lunged at them with the knife.One of the officers shot him in the chest.At

10:42 p.m.,he was pronounced dead at a nearby hospital.

“The officers are responding to somebody with a knife in a crazed condition,who stabs out tires on a vehicle and tires on a

squad car,”Camden said at the scene.“You obviously aren’t going to sit down and have a cup of coffee with them.He is a

very serious threat to the officers,and he leaves them no choice at that point but to defend themselves.”

The Chicago press dutifully reported the police account of the incident.The reporter for the local NBC station called it “a

clear-cut case of self-defense.”It was also reported that the Independent Police Review Authority (IPRA),the city agency

charged with investigating police shootings,would conduct an investigation,as it does in the case of every “police-involved

shooting.”

In its broad outlines,this is a familiar Chicago story: A blackAmerican is shot by a Chicago police officer.A police source

says the shooting was justified.IPRA announces it is investigating.Then silence.After a year or two,IPRA issues a report

confirming that the shooting was indeed justified.

The statistics are stunning.According to IPRA reports,Chicago police officers shoot,on average,several residents a

month.Roughly 75 percent of those shot are black.Civil rights lawyers and investigative journalists I’ve talked to who have

covered the Chicago police for decades cannot remember the last time criminal charges were brought against a Chicago

police officer for a shooting while on duty.

Sometimes before the story of a police shooting evaporates into silence,we briefly hear the

voice of a family member or friend trying to find words to describe who the victim was or

questioning the shooting.Not so in the case of Laquan McDonald.A ward of the state,he appears not to have left much of

a trace in the world.At any rate,there was no one to speakfor him during the brief moment of media attention occasioned

by his death.

The press coverage did,however,contain a couple of particulars that didn’t meld with the police narrative.A witness,Alma

Benitez,was quoted as saying that the shooting was unnecessary,because a number of officers were present and they

had control of the situation.

“It was super exaggerated,”she said.“You didn’t need that many cops to begin with.They didn’t need to shoot him.They

didn’t.They basically had him face-to-face.There was no purpose why they had to shoot him.”

The other detail at odds with the police narrative— mentioned in passing in a couple of news reports without

comment— was that the CookCounty Medical Examiner had ruled that McDonald died of “multiple gunshot wounds,”not

the chest wound that the CPD had described.

The question the press didn’t ask— how many gunshot wounds are covered by the word “multiple”?— has now been

definitively answered by the recently finalized autopsy report,which Ihave obtained via a Freedom of Information Act

request: Laquan McDonald was shot 16times.

Before mapping each of the 16gunshot wounds in minute detail,the report describes Laquan McDonald.Sixfeet tall and

180 pounds,he had been wearing blue jeans and a blackhooded sweatshirt.He had dreadlocks,the longest of which was

five inches.He was,before his encounter with the police,in good health.A tattoo on his upper right arm read “Quan.”

Another on the backof his right hand read “Good Son.”And on the backof his left hand were a pair of dice and

“YOLO”— the acronym for “you only live once.”
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The description of each of the gunshot wounds is exhaustive,noting where the bullet entered the body,the damage it did

to tissue and bone,where it exited the body,and its direction.The numbering of the wounds in the report is arbitrary;it is

“without regard to sequence or severity.”Here is a summary:

1. Gunshot wound ofthe left scalp. (Directionality cannot be determined.)

2. Gunshot wound ofthe neck. (The direction is left to right,slightly front to backand slightly downward.)

3. Gunshot wound ofthe left chest. (The direction is front to back,right to left and downward.)

4. Gunshot wound ofthe right chest. (The direction is front to back,left to right and slightly downward.)

5. Gunshot wound ofthe left elbow. (The direction is left to right,backto front and slightly upward.)

6. Gunshot wound ofthe right upper arm. (The direction is backto front,downward and slightly left to right.)

7. Gunshot wound ofthe left forearm. (The direction is backto front,slightly right to left and slightly downward.)

8. Gunshot wound ofthe lateral right upper leg. (The direction is right to left,downward and slightly front to back.)

9. Gunshot wound ofthe left upper back. (The direction is right to left and downward with no significant forward or

backward deviation.)

10. Gunshot wound ofthe left elbow. (The direction is left to right and downward with no

significant forward or backward deviation.)

11. Gunshot wound ofthe posterior right upper arm. (The direction is right to left,downward and slightly front to back.)

12. Gunshot wound ofthe right arm. (The direction is backto front and upward with no significant lateral deviation.)

13. Gunshot wound ofthe right forearm. (The direction is upward and slightly backto front with no significant lateral

deviation.)

14. Gunshot wound ofthe right hand. (The direction is slightly left to right and slightly upward with no significant forward

or backward deviation.)

15. Gunshot wound ofthe right lower back. (The direction is backto front,right to left and upward.)

16. Gunshot wound ofthe right upper leg. (The direction is left to right and front to backwith no significant vertical

deviation.)

How could an incident that began with the responding officers assessing the situation and deciding they needed a Taser

end a few minutes later with 16bullets ripping through Laquan McDonald’s body from different directions?Did more than

one officer fire?That might explain the bullets entering from different directions.Or did a single officer empty a full

magazine?Perhaps McDonald was rolling around on the ground,in which case bullets fired from a single position might

have entered his body from different directions.

W hatever happened,it’s very difficult to square the police narrative with the facts established by the silent testimony of

Laquan McDonald’s corpse.
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And there is more: Irecently spoke with a witness,who asked that Inot use his name for fear of police reprisals and who

has also reported his story to IPRA.He said he came upon the unfolding drama at the moment when McDonald was boxed

in by police cars and the construction fence.From this point forward,his version of events diverges sharply from that of the

police.

From this witness’s perspective,McDonald didn’t pose an immediate threat to anyone,and he had nowhere to run.Several

officers got out of their squad cars,he says.McDonald was shying away from the police rather than moving toward them,

according to this witness,when a white male officer shot him.He fell to the ground.There was a pause.Then the officer

fired again and again and again.The witness counted,he thought,sixmore shots,but he was uncertain whether other

officers were also firing.Almost immediately,a number of police cars arrived on the scene,blocking the witness’s view.

The police didn’t interview him or take his name.

Although the witness is adamant that McDonald was moving away from the police and not

lunging toward them,let’s assume the officer’s assessment of riskwas correct.There is a

rule of thumbin law enforcement known as the “21-foot rule”— the distance an attacker with a knife can cover before his

intended target,armed with a holstered sidearm,can reasonably be expected to get off an accurate shot.Perhaps that

justified the first— or even the first few— shots,but what possible justification could there be for the barrage of bullets that

followed?

The police department and the city have the means to answer these questions.A source close to the case confirmed to me

that the dashboard camera in one of the squad cars on the scene captured the incident.(CPD policy requires officers to

activate their dashboard cameras when in pursuit.) And it’s clear from both the police narrative and the witness account

that at least one of the squad cars on the scene had a clear perspective on the sequence of events.Ihave reached out to

the Chicago Police Department several times for comment on the autopsy,the witness testimony,and the video,but have

not heard back.

In December,Professor Craig Futterman of the University of Chicago Law School and Ipublicly called on the city to

release all video footage of the incident.It has not done so.Nor has it addressed questions we have raised about the

incident.Now the autopsy report has made those questions even more urgent.

The reality is that in a police force the size of Chicago’s,no matter how well trained and supervised,bad things will

sometimes happen.The critical question is how the institution responds when they do.

Last November,in an interview with the Chicago Sun-Times, Police Superintendent Garry McCarthy spoke of the

importance of keeping the public informed after high-profile incidents such as police shootings.He said he didn’t want the

department to “be defensive”when such incidents occur.“Transparency,”he said,“is part of our legitimacy.”

Hence the importance of releasing the video footage of the Laquan McDonald shooting.Refusing to do so,in view of the

questions raised by the autopsy report,can only damage the department’s legitimacy.

The decision of whether or not to release the video ultimately rests with Mayor Rahm

Emanuel,who is currently in the midst of a re-election campaign.His administration has

taken several significant steps toward establishing a credible regime of police accountability.Among them is the

transparency policy it adopted following a 2014Illinois Appellate Court decision holding that documents relating to closed

investigations of police misconduct are public information.It would be a logical extension of that policy to include open as

well as closed cases,to the extent timely information can be made public without compromising ongoing

investigations.

Recently,the mayor touched,in another context,on what is at stake.In connection with the announcement of a pilot

program in which officers in one of the city’s police districts will be outfitted with body cameras,he spoke of the damage to

community-police relations done by the history of police abuses,and expressed the hope that body cameras will help

rebuild “a foundation of trust”between residents and the police.
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Sparked by events in Ferguson,Missouri,an extraordinary series of protests and conversations across the nation have

brought us to something akin to a truth and reconciliation moment with respect to patterns of police abuse and impunity in

minority communities.At the local level,this dynamic is complexand volatile ,as the recent events in New Yorkhave

illustrated.Statesmanship will be required on all sides,if we are to find a path forward that publicly acknowledges

longstanding patterns of human rights violations,while building and maintaining the relationships that will be required,

incrementally and over time,to effectively address those harms.

The McDonald footage will come out,but a great deal turns on how it comes out.W ill the city be forced to release it in a

way that deepens the crisis of public confidence in law enforcement,or will it be released in a way that helps restore the

“foundation of trust”between residents and police on which effective law enforcement depends?If the city resists releasing

the video until legally compelled to do so,outrage at what it depicts will be compounded by outrage that the city knew its

contents (and the autopsy results) in the immediate aftermath of the incident yet withheld that information from the public.

The fate of Laquan McDonald— a citizen of Chicago so marginalized he was all but invisible until the moment of his

death— has thus become entwined with that of Mayor Emanuel.It presents his administration with a defining moment.
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Experts Agree On Skull Injury But Not
Cause
Nascar Said The BackOf Dale Earnhardt's Head Hit Som ething,

Killing Him .Others W eren't So Sure.

August 22,2001 |ByRobyn Suriano,Sentinel StaffWriter

Pick your favorite theory. With NASCAR's report on Dale Earnhardt's fatal crash,experts now have

offered upthree possible scenarios for the racing legend's death.

Theyall agree that Earnhardt died from a fracture to the base ofhis skull,which damaged the region of

the brain that controls such basic functions as breathing and heart rate.

But each scenario pins the injury-- a basilar skull fracture -- on different causes.

In NASCAR's report,experts speculated that Earnhardt suffered the injurywhen the back ofhis head

struck the steering wheel or something else in the car.

This contrasts with the findings ofa court-appointed expert,Dr. BarryMyers ofDuke University,who

concluded in April that the force ofEarnhardt's head whipping forward could have shattered his skull.

Earlier,a doctor working for Daytona International Speedwaynoted an abrasion ofEarnhardt's chin and

suggested the broken seat belt discovered byNASCAR could have allowed him to flyinto the steering

wheel.

NASCAR's analysis actuallytraces two crashes -- first,when Earnhardt's car collided with a car driven by

KennySchrader,and second,when the No. 3Chevrolet slammed into the track wall.

The initial collision jolted Earnhardt's bodysideways and to the right in his seat. When the car hit the wall,

NASCAR's experts said,the left rear ofhis head either struck the steering wheel or whipped backward on

the rebound and hit something in the car -- possiblythe seat,which includes a metal bar.

The blow was serious enough to crack the base ofEarnhardt's skull and leave a bruise the size ofa

drivers license on his head,the experts said.

NASCAR's experts dismissed the idea that a chin impact caused the injury. The abrasion was more likely

caused bythe rubbing ofthe strapwhen his helmet was jolted on impact,theysaid.

Theyalso disagree with Myers'contention that the injurywas caused bythe whipping motion of

Earnhardt's head,perhaps coupled with a chin strike.

Dr. James Raddin from Biodynamic Research Corp. said the autopsyreport did not mention the sort of

neck and torso injuries that would be apparent in such a case.

"Ilooked to see ifthere was evidence ofstretching in the back ofthe neck from a head whip,and that was

not found," Raddin said. "You certainlycan get a basilar skull fracture that way. [But]Ithink it's relatively

unlikelyin this case."

But another crash expert,Dr. PhilipVillanueva,director ofneurotrauma and head injuryat the Universityof

Miami Medical School,said NASCAR's scenario would result in more neck injuries.
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With the twisting and turning that NASCAR described,Earnhardt's neck would have been obviously

damaged.

"The type ofinjurythat Myers postulated would not lead to much soft-tissue injuryin the neck -- it's more of

a pulling,a stretching," said Villanueva,who has examined the Earnhardt autopsyreport. "But theyare

postulating a lot oftwisting and turning for him to strike the back ofhis head. That's more ofa tearing and

trauma."

Myers,who studied autopsyphotos that were not available to NASCAR's experts,also disputed the

conclusions.

"Istand bythe findings ofmyreport as correct," said Myers,adding that the forward motion ofthe head

alone was enough to cause the fracture that he saw.

But other experts said NASCAR's in-depth analysis allowed for a more thorough investigation. Myers,for

example,did not have access to Earnhardt's car,accident-reconstruction analyses and enhanced video of

the crash.

NASCAR contends that the accident was much more complicated than a straightforward injurycaused by

the violent motion ofEarnhardt's head.

"There are so manyvariables that come into play," said Dr. Robert Mendelsohn,a retired neurosurgeon

and injuryconsultant in Maryland who reviewed NASCAR's report before it was released.

"Dr. Raddin had more evidence -- how fast the car was going,the angle ofimpact,the change in the

velocityand all -- that Dr. Myers didn't have the advantage ofanalyzing."

Mendelsohn said NASCAR's experts were not hampered bytheir inabilityto examine autopsyphotos,

which Myers did with permission ofa judge. The photos since have been sealed.

Villanueva said such disagreements among experts are to be expected. In a best-case scenario,the

experts would have examined Earnhardt's bodydirectly,he said.

"We are all removed,in a sense,because we are not examining the actual tissues," he said. "There will

always be room for argument."
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Earnhardts win fight to keepautopsyphotos
sealed
ByRoger Roy and Amy C.Rippel
Sentinel Staff Writer

JUNE 14, 2001, 6:05 AM | DAYTONA BEACH, FLA.

utopsyphotos ofauto-racing star Dale Earnhardt will remain sealed to spare his familyan

"unspeakable" violation ofprivacy,a circuit judge ruled Wednesday.

In the first test ofa new state law inspired bythe Earnhardt family,Judge Joseph Will ruled that a

college newspaper and a Web site operator failed "overwhelmingly" to show anyconvincing reason

whytheyshould be allowed to see the photos.

"In this particular case,the release constitutes a serious invasion (ofprivacy)ofthe highest degree,"

Will said at the close ofa three-dayhearing. "There is no question it's harmful,it's unspeakable."

Earnhardt's widow Teresa,who contended that photos would end upon the Internet and cause hurt

and embarrassment to her family,did not speak to reporters afterward. She thanked her attorneys,

shook their hands and quicklyleft the courtroom.

Appeals are expected.

"Ithink she was pleased," said Earnhardt attorneyThom Rumberger. "But she understands this is

just the start ofa long process. There's no joyin Mudville tonight."

The Independent Florida Alligator,a student-run newspaper at the UniversityofFlorida,and Web-

site operator Michael Uribe ofDeLand sought access to photos taken ofEarnhardt after the NASCAR

star crashed Feb. 18at the Daytona 500.

Alligator attorneyTom Julin argued that viewing the graphic photos,which were public records

before the new law took effect,could helpmake sure medical examiners or police were doing their

jobs. He said use ofthe photos could lead to safetyadvances that could save lives.

Even as Julin made those arguments,Teresa Earnhardt repeatedlyshook her head,"No."

Will dismissed the claims as "incrediblythin excuses to violate the privacyrights ofthe family." He

said the newspaper and Uribe failed to meet the requirements ofthe new law. Anyone seeking access
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to autopsyphotos must persuade a judge that it is needed to evaluate "governmental performance,"

that their release wouldn't unnecessarilyintrude on the family's privacyor that the information

wasn't available elsewhere.

The hearing,which included testimonyfrom familymembers ofNASCARracers Neil Bonnett and

RodneyOrr,whose autopsyphotos were posted on Uribe's Web site,demonstrated how families

suffer when the gruesome photos are misused,the judge said.

"Invasions ofthis type do not cut more deeply,theydo not cut more painfully," Will said. "The court

remains absolutelybaffled as to how anyperson could be so heartless as to publish or distribute

photos such as these."

Gov. Jeb Bush,who signed the autopsy-photos law with Teresa Earnhardt at his side,said through a

spokeswoman that he was glad at how the case had ended.

Will's ruling,coming two days after he rejected arguments that the law is unconstitutional,does not

end the legal battle. Julin said his client would seek a motion for a new trial. Ifthat is denied,the case

would move to the Fifth District Court ofAppeal.

"The upholding ofthis statute makes it nearlyimpossible to get at autopsyphotos,even when there's

clearlygood cause to do that," Julin said. "Most people can't afford to go through this. Theycan't hire

lawyers,theycan't battle the forces that we've seen here to get at that information."

Although he rejected their request to see the photos,Will gave the Alligator and Uribe an partial legal

victorywhen he dropped a temporaryorder that had blocked access to the photos even before the law

was passed in March,rather than make it permanent as Earnhardt's lawyers requested.

Will issued the temporaryorder for Teresa Earnhardt just days after her husband's The photos have

been examined just once since then,when a court-appointed expert reviewed them to answer

questions bythe Orlando Sentinel and other newspapers about the cause ofEarnhardt's death.

The Sentinel,which agreed to dropits request for access to the photos after the expert's inspection,

was not a part ofthe Alligator and Uribe requests.

Will's lifting ofthe temporaryorder,Julin said,"means that the onlything standing between us and

the records is the new law,which we think is unconstitutional."

Rumberger,part ofa top-dollar Earnhardt legal team that included some ofthe best-known lawyers

in the state,said he was disappointed that Will did not grant make his original order permanent. He

Page 2of4Earnhardts win fight to keepautopsyphotos sealed -Chicago Tribune

11/12/2018http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/nationworld/sns-earnhardt-autopsyphotos-story.html

071



called the judge's ruling "a verygood first step," however,and said he was confident the autopsy-

photo restrictions will withstand legal challenges.

He said he saw little danger that the Earnhardt familywill have to fight repeated attempts to unseal

the disputed photos because of"the trouble,the expense" that is required.

The new law does not prohibit access to autopsyphotos,but onlysets rules for gaining access,

Rumberger said.

"Ifyou have a reason to get them,you can," he said. "It's not,"Let's go down and get the photographs

and have a party."'

But an attorneyrepresenting press organizations that had filed friend-of-the-court briefs in the case

argued that the new law chips awayat Florida's long historyofopen government records byimposing

a test on those who seek them.

"It is the pebble in the water," attorneyJonathan Kaneysaid. "The waves will roll out."

The dayafter the law was adopted in March,the Sentinel and sister paper South Florida Sun-Sentinel

ofFort Lauderdale filed suit in Broward County,asking a circuit judge there to declare it

unconstitutional.

Wednesday's ruling has no bearing on that litigation,which AshleyAllen,spokesperson for Orlando

Sentinel Communications,described as "an entirelydifferent case."

Joseph Little,a law professor at the UniversityofFlorida,said he expects the dispute over

Earnhardt's photos to be decided ultimatelybythe Florida Supreme Court,which maytake two years.

"The fact that you have this famous personalityinvolved in this case is unfortunate because it layers

in the publicityfactor that could color the thinking ofa court," Little said.

But in announcing his ruling,Will said celebritystatus played no role in his decision.

"Ihope all ofyou know that this case could just as easilyhave involved the autopsyphotos ofthe man

who lives under the bridge,or Mr. Uribe's mother," Will said.

Uribe,who is not an attorneybut who represented himselfwith often rambling arguments that

prompted frequent admonitions bythe judge,shrugged offWill's comment.

"He just doesn't like me," Uribe said. "And he's just exercising his freedom ofspeech."
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Harvest ofCorneas at Morgue Questioned
Corneas taken without survivors' permission are resold at huge markup by eye bank, which pays coroner's office a fee. The practice is
legal, but critics cite ethical lapses.

November 02,1997|RALPHFRAMMOLINO|TIMES STAFFWRITER

A renowned eye bank has paid more than $1million during the last five years to the Los Angeles Countycoroner's office in exchange for thousands ofcorneas,

harvested without the permission or knowledge ofthe families ofthe dead.

Although the practice is permitted under a little-known state law,officials ofthe coroner's office and DohenyEye & Tissue Transplant Bank have used the

statute so extensivelythat critics saythe morgue has become a virtual cornea mill.

"Totallyimmoral," is how former Dohenytechnician Julia Brain described what is happening behind the coroner's doors--and behind the backs offamilies.

"Repugnant," said former coroner supervisor Peter Linder.

Under the 14-year-old state law,coroners are allowed to remove corneas in cases targeted for autopsyifthere are no known objections from the next ofkin.

When the law was passed,there was a shortage ofcorneas and long waits for people seeking transplants ofthe dome-like tissue that covers the eye's colored

iris. Speed was ofthe essence because corneas usuallydisintegrate within 24hours after death. For that reason,coroner officials are not specificallyrequired

under the law to seek time-consuming permission.

There is no doubt that the wide availabilityofcorneas has helped thousands ofpeople overcome a varietyofvision-impairing maladies. But a mounting

number ofmedical experts saythe law is unnecessarytodaybecause corneas are so plentiful that none need be procured without the blessings ofloved ones.

San Francisco Medical Examiner Boyd Stephens,for one,said he will not allow cornea removals without familyapproval. He said surveys byhis office have

shown that even people willing to donate internal organs draw the line at eyes.

"When you think ofsomebodyyou know,you envision their face,their eyes and nose," Stephens said. "You don't identifyanybodybytheir liver."

In Los Angeles,that has not deterred coroner's and eye bank officials,who saytheyhave been guided onlybyhumanitarian concerns and the dictates ofthe

law.

An investigation byThe Times has revealed that the coroner's office and Dohenyare invoking the state measure on an unprecedented scale. This has generated

a cheapsource ofcorneas that the eye bank resells for a markupofmore than 1,200%. In return,the cash-strapped morgue receives payments ofabout

$250,000a year.

In all,at least halfofDoheny's corneas--more than 1,000annually--come from coroner cases in which consent has not been obtained,a number unmatched by

anyeye bank in the state.

Along the way,critics and medical experts say,ethical lapses and procedural breakdowns have occurred.

Internal documents,a computer analysis ofhundreds ofcoroner cases and scores ofinterviews disclosed that:

*Employees ofthe coroner's office and the eye bank saytheyhave been discouraged bysuperiors from asking permission offamilymembers,even when easily

accessible at death scenes,through the police or bytelephone. In that way,no objections can be lodged and the corneas can be harvested under the state's so-

called Coroners Law.

*The eye bank's employees are under such intense pressure to procure corneas that their productivityhas been charted on monthlybar graphs. Earlier this

year,when the numbers dipped,a veiled warning ofpossible "downsizing" was issued bythe president ofDoheny's management organization,Tissue Banks

International,a driving force behind the 1983Coroners Law.

*The ties between Dohenyand the coroner's office are extremelyclose--some sayincestuouslyso. The morgue's former director is now a keyexecutive of

Tissue Banks International. In recent years,Dohenyhas hired relatives ofpathologists working for the coroner's office. At times,full-time morgue employees

have moonlighted for Doheny. Some ofthe eye bank's technicians have their own keys to the coroner's office,giving them free run ofthe facilityand its

investigative files.

*Contraryto federal health-safetyguidelines,Dohenytechnicians have removed corneas from people recentlyincarcerated and from drug users--high-risk

candidates for infectious viruses,including hepatitis and AIDS. In addition,no familyor medical histories are sought to discover other possible health dangers.

Although chances ofdisease transmission through corneal transplants are extremelyremote,most eye banks and coroners outside Los Angeles saytheyprefer

to err on the side ofsafety.

Dohenyand the eye bank's management firm,both ofwhich are listed as nonprofit organizations,saytheynot onlyhave complied with the law but have been

motivated solelybya genuine desire to helpthose with vision that has been impaired bysuch things as cataract surgeryand scarring from accidents and

infections.
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The Coroners Law,according to DohenyExecutive Director JeffreyA. Thomas,"enables everyone with need [for]the rapid access to sight-restoring corneas."

Officials ofthe Los Angeles Countycoroner's office also saytheir extensive use ofthe law has been justified bythe long-standing demand for corneas in

Southern California. Nonetheless,theysay,the time has come for a change--prompted,theyacknowledge,byinternal dissension and recent questions from

The Times.

"There were some employees feeling theyshould inform the families," said the coroner's topadministrator,AnthonyT. Hernandez. "We took a look and said

maybe we should."

Hernandezsaid a policyrequiring employees to seek familyconsent was drafted about eight months ago,but "fell through the cracks" until inquiries from the

newspaper revived the issue. Hernandezsaid he expected that the new policywould be in place within days.

Former state Sen. Robert Presley(D-Riverside),who wrote the Coroners Law,said he is proud that the measure boosted the number ofcorneas available for

transplants,but he never anticipated that familymembers would be disregarded in the process.

"Technically,legally,they're OKto do that," Presleysaid ofcoroner officials. "But you would think,ifthe familyis right there,theywould say,'Do you have any

objection?'"

Relatives Shocked byDisclosures

As part ofits study,The Times examined 572cases for a 12-month span beginning in Julyof1996,as well as a scattering ofothers from years past in which

corneas were taken under the Coroners Law--meaning families were unaware that the procedure had been conducted. When contacted bythe newspaper,

some responded with anger,others with understanding. All,however,were shocked that theyhad not been asked or told.

Yolanda Aguirre's son Mitchell,18,was killed in a gang shooting Feb. 3. When his bodyarrived at the morgue,his corneas were promptlyremoved.

"It makes me want to cry," the El Monte mother said. "How come theydon't send letters to tell us what they've done?"

Aguirre,unlike some others,said she finds no comfort in the knowledge that her son has possiblyprovided the gift ofsight to another.

"A lot ofpeople need a lot ofthings," she said. "Ineed a million dollars but Idon't take it from somebody. . . . Those were myeyes. Those were mycreation."

Frank Casias also was infuriated to learn that the corneas ofhis 20-year-old daughter,Christina,had been secretlyremoved.

He said he could have been asked for permission at the death scene--the family's Canoga Park apartment,where he found Christina dead from breathing

complications shortlybefore 1a.m. on Feb. 15. Had he been asked,Casias said,he would have answered no.

"Ihad just gotten finished looking into her eyes. Itried to give her CPR. It would have been hard enough to donate anything at all," recalled the father,who

said he is now at peace with what was done.

Ken Brondell said permission could easilyhave been sought from him too. His 40-year-old daughter,ChristyLynn Hamilton,was a rookie Los Angeles police

officer who was gunned down three years ago in the line ofduty. She was the oldest woman to graduate from the Police Academy.

Brondell said he was in constant contact with the Police Department. As the official next ofkin,he was chauffeured to the hospital and stood vigil before

Hamilton's bodywas delivered to the morgue. He then returned home,where he said he could have been reached at anytime.

"Iftheywould have asked me,and Ihad a few minutes to think about it,Iprobablywould have said yes," Brondell said. "But it kind ofbothers me that it was

done without anynotice."

Said Hamilton's brother: "Good manners dictate that a thank you note be sent. You do that for a wedding gift."

Even families with the presence ofmind to register objections on their own sometimes are too late for the quick work ofDoheny's technicians,who are allowed

to peruse paperwork ofunfinished cases and remove bodies from the coroner's crypts.

Carlos M. Gudino,a 24-year-old Wilmington gang member,died shortlybefore 9 p.m. on March 26from 12bullet wounds to the chest and head. His sister

called the morgue the next day.

"Myparents told me to let them know theydidn't want anyorgans donated or anything," Maria Gudino said during a briefinterview at her family's apartment.

She said she was told: " 'Don't worry,honey,we're not going to do that. Thanks for letting us know.'"

A coroner's investigator dutifullynoted the objection on a supplemental note to his report: "Familyis profoundlyagainst ANYorgan or tissue donation per

conversation with multiple familymembers 03-27-97."

Bythen,it was too late. Gudino's corneas had been removed three hours earlier.

A similar circumstance prompted a lawsuit against Dohenyand the countybythe familyofCarlos Lopez,a 20-year-old man shot while eating at a fast-food

stand. After Lopezdied at County-USCMedical Center,the familyrefused a nurse's request to harvest some ofhis skin. Lopez's bodywas then transported

around the corner to the morgue,where Dohenyemployees removed his corneas--two days before the autopsy.

The case was settled for an undisclosed sum.

The failure to request permission in these and other cases was no mere oversight but,rather,common practice.
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Robert Iwan once ran Doheny's Central Coast office. He now is a freelance illustrator and substitute teacher in Alhambra.

"We were,under no circumstances,to call the familyor approach the family," he said. "Ifwe were to approach the families,we risked the possibilityofthe

familysaying no. Then we would lose the corneas,at the veryleast,and that was something they[eye bank executives]didn't want."

Veteran coroner investigator Pam Eaker said she received the same message from her topboss.

"Iwas told not to ask [families]," Eaker said,because coroner administrators "didn't want us involved in that aspect."

And ifthe families weren't asked,there was no reason for them to wonder.

"Ifyou take the cornea,no one knows it's gone," said Lisa Karlan Rasgon,who once operated a local tissue bank. "That's how they've gotten awaywith it . . .

because who goes upto a dead person and opens their eyes?There's no disfigurement when the corneas are removed."

Cornea removals are disclosed on public autopsyforms,but those documents usuallyare not available until long after burials. What's more,the documents,by

design,are worded to minimize potential problems from familymembers,records obtained byThe Times show.

In 1991,the vice president ofTissue Banks International asked the coroner's office in a letter to stopcalling corneal removals "donations" on its official

paperwork.

"The question arose in our minds," he wrote,"that describing the cornea removal . . . as a donation might trigger responses from the reader which could be of

concern.

"In cases where corneas are removed the NOK[next ofkin]upon reading the AutopsyReport might object to the term 'donation'when in fact the 'donation'

was authorized bystatute." He suggested this change: "Corneas removed (CGC)"--an acronym for the California Government Code.

"We feel this statement would address the issue in a positive and completelyhonest manner," the executive wrote.

The coroner's office agreed,noting in its procedural manual: "Please do not use terminologysuch as,'The corneas were donated,'or,'The eyes were removed,'

as this could lead to misunderstanding and concerns for the next ofkin."

Information about the legislativelyauthorized removals also is contained in a single paragraph ofa pamphlet titled "Information from the CountyofLos

Angeles Department ofCoroner." The three-page pamphlet is kept in the morgue reception area,along with a varietyofothers on various health issues.

Tissue Banks International contends that coroner employees provide the pamphlet to everyone identifying a bodyat the morgue. But coroner officials saythe

truth is that employees are not required to give the pamphlet,and manydo not.

Coroner administrator Hernandezsaid distribution has been on a "catch-as-catch-can" basis. He said that,under the new policy,investigators will be required

to hand the pamphlet to familymembers.

Eye Bank Employees Under Pressure

Doheny's countycontract has paved the wayfor it to become one ofthe most productive eye banks of111in the nation,according to statistics compiled bythe

Eye Bank Assn. ofAmerica.

Last year,Dohenysupplied 1,846corneas for transplants,second onlyto an eye bank in Tampa,Fla.,which does seek familyconsent,despite being in one of21

states with laws similar to California's. Dohenyalso has the right to recover skin,bone and heart valves from the coroner's office on behalfofother tissue

banks--taken onlywith familyconsent.

Insiders sayDohenyemployees have taken full advantage oftheir access,driven byproductivitygoals set byTissue Banks International,which runs a

nationwide network ofeye banks.

Tissue Banks is widelycredited with transforming cornea acquisitions from what used to be a small volunteer effort pioneered bythe Lions Club into a highly

professionalized operation with big salaries,executive perks and high overhead.

Tissue Banks International runs the administrative side ofits 11eye banks across the country,buying supplies,hiring workers and ensuring that the network

has a readysupplyofcorneas that can be shipped on a moment's notice where the need arises. In return,Tissue Banks charges its affiliates a management fee

based on the amount ofmoneyeach generates on corneas and other tissues. Last year,Tissue Banks collected $600,000from Doheny,records show.

Efforts to keepthe system working--and the moneyflowing--are intense.

Earlier this year,when workers at Dohenyand its affiliated eye banks picked uptheir paychecks,theyalso were handed a letter from Tissue Banks President

Richard Fuller,urging them to work harder. The reason: "Corneal Tissue Volumes are under budget by9%,or 376corneas."

"This is a veryserious concern since ocular programs [represent]80%ofour 'business,'" Fuller wrote.

"It is upto each ofus to put forth extra effort to ensure that tissue volumes are met and costs are contained. . . . 'Re-engineering,''reduction in force'and

'downsizing'are all common terms these days. Let's make sure we do not have to use them to solve the problems we face."

In an interview,Fuller said the letter was intended to "nudge people a little bit. . . . We don't pressure nor do we threaten our employees."

Fuller also defended his firm's extensive use ofthe Coroners Law. "What we're doing is in the public good. . . . We believe it's the right thing to do."
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But those on the front lines saythose loftygoals,coupled with a push for productivity,can often create an almost ghoulish environment.

"We were swooping down on the dead to make money. We were feeding offthe dead," said one former Dohenyemployee,who still remembers the glares he

and others suffered from rankled countyworkers.

"You'd walk byand there would be a sardonic look on their face and theywould flaptheir wings,like,'Uh-oh,here come the vultures.'"

At one point,Dohenyworkers offered--and morgue attendants began demanding--food to expedite cornea cases,prompting an official memo halting the

"inappropriate and unethical" practice.

"While it might seem that a doughnut here or a piece ofpizza there is no big deal,it is demeaning and calls into question the integrityofthe entire

Department," wrote the chiefofcoroner investigators.

"Ifyou don't think that a person doesn't or won't expect something in return for their 'gratuity,'you're sadlymistaken. Behind your back,you're a 'simpleton'

and a 'chump'in their eyes."

Before theyremove corneas,Dohenytechnicians routinelyobtain permission from coroner officials in cases likelyto require autopsies,such as homicides,thus

ensuring compliance with the law.

On occasion,however,corneas have been harvested when no autopsies were conducted because ofcommunication foul-ups or subsequent decisions not to

perform them.

Former death investigation supervisor Peter Linder said he recalls about a half-dozen instances in which unnecessaryautopsies were performed because

corneas had been removed under questionable circumstances.

"If. . . you're afraid ofa familycomplaint,to protect the coroner against a lawsuit,you did an autopsy," Linder said.

"The autopsynow makes the taking ofthe eyes legal. . . . Some ofthe doctors were veryangryabout it because their workload is heavy."

In a case last year,a Dohenytechnician requested a belated autopsyon a West Hills woman who had drowned in her apartment complexpool.

"Dr. Liang [a Dohenytechnician]requests at least a partial autopsy,as [Tissue Banks International]took corneas," according to a notation in coroner files.

"Case held for tomorrow."

The autopsywas performed,despite an earlier determination that it was unwarranted. Liang said Fridaythat he did not recall the case.

ChiefMedical Examiner Lakshmanan Sathyavagiswaran acknowledged in a recent interview that there have been "rare" instances in which such autopsies

were performed. "Idon't think it happens anymore," he said.

Corneas Resold at Substantial Profit

One reason Dohenyand Tissue Banks International have so aggressivelymined the coroner's office for corneas is because it is much easier--and more

profitable--than going to the trouble and expense ofseeking familyapproval or obtaining them from hospitals,according to eye bank experts.

Doheny,using moneysupplied bythe Baltimore-based Tissue Banks,pays the coroner an average ofabout $250for a set ofcorneas,which are then sold to

transplant institutions for a "processing fee" of$3,400--among the highest in the nation.

Records show that the coroner's office has collected nearly$1.4million from Tissue Banks during the last five years. Tissue Banks also has donated two vans

and upgraded an autopsyroom where technicians perform the 45-minute corneal removals.

Countyofficials saythe payments are merelyreimbursement for the time it takes for coroner employees to consult with Dohenytechnicians and for the space

used bythe eye bank.

Tissue Banks International officials put a different spin on the payments with the state's RegistryofCharitable Trusts. In public filings,theycalled them

"grants" intended to accelerate tissue removal.

"Due to budget constraints,the Los Angeles CountyCoroner's Office was unable to achieve its potential for tissue donations," the filing states. "Delays to the

necessarytimelyrelease oftissue arose because ofstaffing shortages."

Coroner administrator Hernandezsaid that,although the extra moneyeach year has been helpful,it has not been crucial to his department,which he said has

suffered budget cuts of25%over the last several years.

"Ifwe lost our 250,000bucks,big wow," he said. "After losing $3million [in cuts]over sixyears,$250,000is not going to be a big deal."

But some saythe issue transcends the amount ofmoneybeing funneled to the coroner's coffers.

"The waythis has been done,with them buying things for the coroners,it's implied that theyare going to get something in return," said Linder,who retired

from the coroner's office last year. "It makes for an incestuous relationship."

Linder and other critics saythat relationshipis cemented not onlybymoneybut bypersonnel connections.

The most conspicuous is Ilona Lewis,who was in charge ofthe coroner's office from 1991until her retirement in 1993after 26years ofcountyservice. She

promptlyjoined Tissue Banks as a high-ranking executive with oversight ofDohenyoperations.
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One year earlier,while still employed bythe county,Lewis authorized an extension ofthe eye bank's contract and later encouraged her charges to helpeye

bank workers meet their goals.

In a 1993memo to coroner staffers,two months before her new job was announced,Lewis wrote: "Tissue Banks International (TBI)reported a marked

increase in the number ofcases for harvesting in the month ofMarch and earlyApril. . . . Once again,thanks for a job well done."

Lewis acknowledged in an interview that she had a "briefdiscussion" with Tissue Banks about a job during her last days with the county. But she stressed that,

in her current position,she does not have contact with members ofher former department.

The hirings did not stopwith Lewis. Within a week after morgue doctor Nine Liang was laid offin a 1993budget purge,he was hired as a Dohenycornea

technician. At least three other coroner's employees have worked full time for the countywhile holding down part-time jobs removing corneas for Doheny.

Dohenyalso has employed the children oftwo coroner pathologists. Last year,the tissue agencyhired as a laboratoryassistant the nephew ofSarah Ahonima,

the coroner administrator currentlyin charge ofTissue Banks'countycontract.

Ahonima said she had nothing to do with the hiring ofher relative,whom she said had heard the organization was "looking for laboratoryassistants,or lab

boys." She declined to saywhether she provided the tip.

Asked ifthe employment ofher nephew posed a conflict because ofher oversight ofthe tissue bank contract,Ahonima responded bluntly: "No,it does not."

Agreeing with her are coroner administrator Hernandezand Medical Examiner Sathyavagiswaran,who said in interviews that such hirings do not violate

countypolicy.

James Childress,a nationallyrecognized expert on medical ethics,sees things differently. He said the financial ties between the eye bank and the coroner's

office could provide "the temptation to cut ethical corners."

"At a veryminimum,[families]ought to be informed and have a right to sayyes or no" to corneal removals. "That's what we do on other organs. But ifyou

think the familymight be too upset or would have other problems providing the corneas,you might just skip[seeking permission]altogether."

Childress,a UniversityofVirginia professor ofbiomedical ethics who has served on national task forces on organ transplants and cloning,said the coroner's

extensive use ofthe California law "amounts to something veryclose to expropriation or conscription ofcorneas."

Use ofHigh-Risk Donors a Concern

Beyond the ethical questions,concerns have been raised over whether Dohenyexecutives are in stepwith counterparts elsewhere in the nation on public

health issues.

The chance ofcontracting life-threatening illnesses through corneas,which are bloodless,is extremelyremote. To date,for example,there has been no

documented case ofHIVinfection bythat route. Still,federal regulators have issued a series ofrules to playon the safe side.

Among them: Corneal tissue should not be removed from people who have been incarcerated,who have used drugs intravenouslyor who have engaged in

homosexual sex--all ofwhich put them at risk for AIDS and hepatitis.

Dohenyofficials saytheyhave done their best to comply,based on the paperwork available to them at the time. Moreover,Executive Director Thomas said

blood tests are conducted on everycornea donor and their bodies are examined for telltale signs ofdrug abuse or fresh tattoos.

Safety,Thomas said,"is paramount. Ithink we put tremendous efforts at having talented people,training and reallyfollowing the respective guidelines."

But several former Dohenyemployees said their experience showed otherwise. Theysaid theywere compelled to take corneas from bodies theyconsidered

suspect because ofhigh-risk health factors.

Ex-Dohenyemployee Julia Brain,now a graduate student at McGill Universityin Montreal,said eye bank officials transferred her out ofthe morgue and into a

phone job when she balked at removing eye tissue from a two-time prison inmate with tattoos.

"Isaid,'I'm sorry,I'm not going to take this case,'" Brain recalled. "After that,theydecided Ishouldn't be a [technician]for them anymore and theywanted me

to take donor calls."

In a sampling ofseveral dozen cases from earlier this year,The Times found at least 10in which corneas were taken from people who had been jailed three

days or longer within the prior year. Their criminal identification numbers were listed on autopsyreports.

One ofthem was Michael Wayne Marshall,whose unidentified bodywas brought to the morgue Feb. 27. Two months earlier,he had been released from the

California Institution for Men in Chino. His autopsyreport noted that he had "multiple drug violations."

Dohenyexecutive Thomas said he doesn't remember anytechnician being told to take corneas from high-risk donors,but acknowledged that mistakes can

happen. "Ithink there's a risk whenever the donor can't talk," he said.

In the hopes ofminimizing that risk,federal health authorities also require that social histories on donors be obtained byinterviewing familymembers and

friends. The exception: cases in which corneas have been removed under state statutes,such as those obtained byDoheny.

Thomas said that such social histories often are unreliable. "In anysituation where you're asking next ofkin or asking medical personnel or professionals

about a certain case," he said,"you're going to get not 100%accurate information."

Sometimes,however,you do get enough to prevent mistakes.
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Jason K.Woody,director ofthe CentralFloridaEye and Tissue Bankin Tampa,knows howimportant arelative can be--as do eye bankofficials in California

and across the country,who routinelycompile socialhistories.

"Ihad a[donor]who was 65years old and he hadn't had sex with his wife in 20years," Woodyrecalled.He said the case looked like aslam-dunkuntilhe

interviewed the man's wife.

"She said,'Honey,he probablyslept with two or three prostitutes aweek,'" Woodysaid,adding:"Ihad to decline that case."

Woody's state,like California,has acoroners law.But unlike here,he said,his employees remove no corneas without familyconsent--"whether the patient is 1

dayold or 100years old"--or from anyone considered at riskfor infectious diseases."Ifyou're in amotor vehicle accident in Tampa,ifIdon't find your next of

kin,Idon't take your tissue."

In his view,the practices occurringin Los Angeles border on theft.

"Would youwant it to happen to your son or daughter?...Youhave to live with it for the rest ofyour life," he said."Apart ofyour loved one is gone,there's

nothingyoucan do about it,and younever knewabout it....There's not even the courtesyoftellingthe generalpublicthat it's happening."

(BEGINTEXTOFINFOBOX/INFOGRAPHIC)

Those Who Gave

Under the CaliforniaPublicRecords Act,The Times examined all572cases in which corneas were removed without familyconsent or knowledge duringa12-

month span endingin June.

Here,based on acomputer analysis ofthat information,are some characteristics ofthe donors.

*Seventy-two percent were homicide victims,who are most likelyto have young,"healthier" corneas that transplant banks seek.Accident victims accounted

for the next largest groupat 16%.

*Nearly60%were Latino,21%were African American and 16%were white.The number ofminoritycorneadonors was disproportionate compared to the

number ofminorities autopsied.Only44%ofallautopsies performed duringthe last year were ofLatinos and African Americans,while 42%were ofwhites.

*The average age was 27.7years,much younger than the average age ofallthose autopsied.Eleven ofthe donors were 5years old or younger;the oldest was

69.

Eye bankofficials saythat theybase their selection ofdonors purelyon mode ofdeath and that race is not afactor.

(BEGINTEXTOFINFOBOX/INFOGRAPHIC)

HarvestingCorneas

Under alittle-known state law,the DohenyEye &Tissue Transplant Bankhas harvested thousands ofcorneas from bodies at the countymorgue without

notifyingthe next ofkin.The countyreceives about $250per pair--moneycountyofficials sayrecovers publiccosts.The corneas later are resold for

considerablymore.

*THECORNEA:Atransparent thin-walled dome formingthe front ofthe eyeball.To remove the tissue,atechnician opens the eyelid with aspeculum and

cuts around the thin membrane in acircle,extendingthree to four millimeters into the sclera,the white part ofthe eye.The corneais then lifted and preserved

in aculture medium.Includingpreparation,the entire

process takes about 45minutes.

Pushingfor More Corneas

This memo from the president ofDoheny's management firm,Tissue Banks International,was distributed with Januarypaychecks ofeye bankemployees.

Some former workers saythis kind ofproductivitypush has led to overzealousness inside the countymorgue.Tissue Bank's president characterized the

missive as a"nudge," not pressure.

The AutopsyFactor

Californialawstates that corneas can be taken without familyconsent onlyin cases targeted for autopsy.But coroner officials acknowledge that there have

been occasions when unnecessaryautospies were performed to justifycornearemoval.Documents in this 1996drowningcase showthat aDohenytechnician,

workingfor Tissue Banks International,requested "at least apartialautopsy" because eye tissue had been removed.Morgue doctors complied,reversingan

earlier decision that an autopsywas not needed.
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SPE CIA L R E PO R T S

C o uld th e d eath o fo ne abused ch ild h ave
saved th e life o fano th er?

B Y DE ANNA BO Y D

d b o y d @ s t ar - t e l e g r am . co m

M ay 3 1, 2 0 17 12 : 3 6 P M

T h e y d i e d m o r e t h a n t w o y e a r s a p a r t a n d w e r e n o t r e l a t e d , b u t t h e 1 - y e a r - o l d g i r l

a n d t h e 3 - y e a r - o l d b o y s h a r e d d i s t u r b i n g s i m i l a r i t i e s i n d e a t h .

B o t h h a d o l d a n d n e w r i b f r a c t u r e s . B o t h h a d l a c e r a t e d l i v e r s .

A n d b o t h , t h e g i r l n a m e d P h a n e e s e a n d t h e b o y n a m e d K i n g , h a d b e e n u n d e r t h e

c a r e o f t h e i r m o t h e r s a n d t h e i r m o t h e r s ’ b o y f r i e n d — t h e s a m e m a n — w h e n t h e y

d r e w t h e i r l a s t b r e a t h s .
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P o l i c e i n v e s t i g a t i o n s i n F o r t W o r t h a n d A r l i n g t o n a n d a u t o p s i e s w o u l d r e v e a l

t r o u b l i n g i n j u r i e s , b u t t h e T a r r a n t C o u n t y m e d i c a l e x a m i n e r ’ s o f f i c e w o u l d r u l e

b o t h c h i l d r e n ’ s m a n n e r s o f d e a t h a s “ u n d e t e r m i n e d . ”

In b o t h c a s e s , t h e m e d i c a l e x a m i n e r ’ s o f f i c e o p i n e d t h a t s o m e o f t h e i n j u r i e s w e r e

c a u s e d b y C P R .

No a r r e s t s w e r e m a d e . T h e b o y f r i e n d a n d t h e m o t h e r s o f t h e t w o c h i l d r e n a r e n o t

b e i n g i d e n t i f i e d b e c a u s e t h e y h a v e n o t b e e n c h a r g e d w i t h c r i m e s .

B u t t h r e e f o r e n s i c p a t h o l o g i s t s w h o r e v i e w e d t h e c h i l d r e n ’ s a u t o p s y r e p o r t s , a t t h e

S t a r - T e l e g r a m ’ s r e q u e s t , e x p r e s s e d c o n c e r n s w i t h T a r r a n t C o u n t y ’ s f i n d i n g s .

“ T h e s e i n j u r i e s a r e n o t c o n s i s t e n t w i t h C P R , ” s a i d D r . Jo y e C a r t e r , a H o u s t o n -

b a s e d f o r e n s i c p a t h o l o g y c o n s u l t a n t , l e c t u r e r a n d a u t h o r . “ T h e s e r i b f r a c t u r e s a r e

c o n s i s t e n t w i t h f o r c e f u l s q u e e z i n g o f t h e r i b c a g e . Ih a v e s e e n t h e s e t y p e i n j u r i e s

a s s o c i a t e d w i t h n u m e r o u s f a t a l c h i l d a b u s e i n j u r i e s . ”

T w o o f t h e f o r e n s i c p a t h o l o g i s t s c o n s u l t e d w e n t a s f a r a s t o s a y t h a t t h e i n j u r i e s

s u f f e r e d b y K i n g , t h e 3 - y e a r - o l d b o y , p o i n t t o h i s d e a t h b e i n g a h o m i c i d e .

“ Is t r o n g l y d i s a g r e e w i t h t h i s , ” D r . C y r i l W e c h t , a r e n o w n e d f o r e n s i c p a t h o l o g i s t

f r o m P i t t s b u r g h w h o h a s c o n s u l t e d i n m a n y h i g h - p r o f i l e c a s e s , s a i d o f t h e

u n d e t e r m i n e d r u l i n g h a n d e d d o w n i n t h e b o y ’ s c a s e . “ T h e i n j u r i e s s p e a k f o r

t h e m s e l v e s . ”

T h o u g h e x p e r t s a c k n o w l e d g e t h e r e a r e t i m e s w h e n a n u n d e t e r m i n e d r u l i n g i s

u n a v o i d a b l e , t h e y s a y f a i l i n g t o m a k e a c a l l w h e n t h e e v i d e n c e i s t h e r e t h w a r t s

j u s t i c e a n d c a n p u t a d d i t i o n a l c h i l d r e n i n d a n g e r .

“ If y o u h a v e t h e a b i l i t y t o m a k e a c a l l a n d y o u d o n ’ t — y o u c a l l i t u n d e t e r m i n e d —

t h e n e x t d e a t h i s o n y o u , ” s a i d D r . J. C . U p s h a w D o w n s , a Ge o r g i a - b a s e d f o r e n s i c

p a t h o l o g i s t , c o n s u l t a n t a n d a u t h o r .

W h e n c o n t a c t e d a b o u t t h e S t a r - T e l e g r a m ’ s f i n d i n g s , T a r r a n t C o u n t y M e d i c a l

Ex a m i n e r D r . Ni z a m P e e r w a n i a g r e e d t o r e o p e n b o t h c a s e s , a n d i n M a y , b r o u g h t

m o s t o f t h e i n v o l v e d a g e n c i e s — F o r t W o r t h p o l i c e , C h i l d P r o t e c t i v e S e r v i c e s , a n d

t h e d i s t r i c t a t t o r n e y ’ s o f f i c e — t o g e t h e r t o r e v i e w a n d d i s c u s s t h e i r f i n d i n g s .

Page 2 of 25A tragic tale of two abused children in Tarrant County | Fort Worth Star-Telegram

11/12/2018https://www.star-telegram.com/news/special-reports/article153573004.html

035



P e e r w a n i s a i d A r l i n g t o n p o l i c e w e r e i n v i t e d b u t d i d n o t a t t e n d t h e m e e t i n g .

Ruling d eath s‘ und eterm ined ’ isn’ tw ro ng , butth atd o esn’ t

m ake itrig h t

W h en m eth ism ix ed w ith p arenting , th e resultscanbe

fatal

C h ild abuse trials: ‘ T h ere are no h ig h er stakes’

S o m ebo d y beatKh alilG ilbertto d eath , buth iskiller

rem ainsfree

A vo ice fo r ch ild ren: C o nfro nting ch ild abuse in T arrant

C o unty

A t t h e r e v i e w ’ s c o n c l u s i o n , P e e r w a n i d i d a g r e e t o c h a n g e t h e r u l i n g s i n o n e o f t h e

c h i l d r e n ’ s d e a t h s — b u t n o t t o h o m i c i d e . M o r e t h a n s i x y e a r s a f t e r s h e d i e d ,

P h a n e e s e ’ s d e a t h w i l l n o w b e d e e m e d “ n a t u r a l ” a f t e r P e e r w a n i s a i d h i s o f f i c e

d i s c o v e r e d s h e h a d “ s i c k l e c e l l t r a i t ” d u r i n g t h e i r r e c e n t r e v i e w .

R E LA T E D ST O R IE SF R O M F O R T W O R T H ST A R T E LE G R A M
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H e s a i d K i n g ’ s d e a t h w i l l r e m a i n u n d e t e r m i n e d .

“ T h i s i s a n u n n a t u r a l d e a t h , b u t w e ’ r e n o t s u r e i f i t ’ s a h o m i c i d e o r n o t , ” P e e r w a n i

s a i d .

“ W e d o n ’ t h a v e a n y v e s t e d i n t e r e s t i n t h i s c a s e , ” P e e r w a n i s a i d . “ W e ’ r e g o i n g t o

c a l l i t b a s e d o n t h e b e s t p o s s i b l e e v i d e n c e w e h a v e a t h a n d . If t h e r e i s a d o u b t , h o w

a r e w e g o i n g t o c o n v i n c e a j u r y ? ”

T arrant C o u nt y i sN o .2 i n T e x as i n t h e t o t alnu m be r o fco nfi rm e d case s, be h i nd H arri s C o u nt y , bu t t h at o nly t e lls

p art o ft h e st o ry .

B y M cC lat ch y

‘ N o , L o r d ! N o ! N o ! N o ! ’

In s t i n c t t o l d S h i r l e y W i l l i a m s s o m e t h i n g w a s w r o n g w i t h h e r g r a n d d a u g h t e r .

A p a t e r n a l g r a n d m o t h e r t o P h a n e e s e , s h e ’ d n o t i c e d t h a t t h e g i r l s e e m e d r e l u c t a n t

t o r e t u r n h o m e w i t h h e r m o t h e r a t t h e e n d o f v i s i t s . S h e h a d s p o t t e d k n o t s o n t h e

f r o n t a n d b a c k o f P h a n e e s e ’ s h e a d i n D e c e m b e r 2 0 1 0 . A n d , t h a t s a m e m o n t h a t

t h e g i r l ’ s f i r s t b i r t h d a y p a r t y , s h e ’ d s e e n h o w P h a n e e s e a p p e a r e d f e a r f u l o f h e r

m o t h e r ’ s n e w b o y f r i e n d .


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“ W h e n h e c a m e t o h e r a t t h e b i r t h d a y p a r t y , s h e c r i n g e d a n d c l i n g e d t o m y c h e s t , ”

W i l l i a m s r e c a l l e d .

W i l l i a m s h a d h e l p e d h e r s o n r a i s e P h a n e e s e — h e r o n l y g r a n d c h i l d — f o r t h e f i r s t

s i x m o n t h s o f h e r l i f e s o t h a t t h e g i r l ’ s m o t h e r c o u l d f i n i s h c o l l e g e . B u t a f t e r

P h a n e e s e ’ s m o t h e r a n d h e r s o n b r o k e u p , h e r r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h t h e m o t h e r b e g a n t o

d e t e r i o r a t e .

O n C h r i s t m a s Ev e 2 0 1 0 , w h e n t h e m o t h e r c a m e t o p i c k u p P h a n e e s e w i t h h e r

b o y f r i e n d i n t o w , W i l l i a m s b e c a m e e v e n m o r e d i s t r e s s e d w i t h t h e s i t u a t i o n .

“ Ih a d a s k e d h e r n o t t o b r i n g h i m b y m y h o u s e , a s h i m a n d m y s o n w e r e a r g u i n g

e a c h t i m e t h e y c a m e b y , ” W i l l i a m s s a i d . “ T h a t p a r t i c u l a r e v e n i n g , w h e n Iw e n t t o

t h e c a r a n d Is a w h i m , Is a i d , ‘ It o l d y o u n o t t o b r i n g t h a t b o y b a c k o v e r h e r e . ’ H e

s t a r t e d c u s s i n g , a c t i n g l i k e h e w a n t e d t o f i g h t , j u m p i n g u p a n d d o w n . T h e b a b y j u s t

f r o z e . ”

S e e i n g h e r g r a n d d a u g h t e r ’ s r e a c t i o n , W i l l i a m s s a i d s h e q u i t a r g u i n g w i t h t h e

m o t h e r ’ s b o y f r i e n d a n d w a l k e d a w a y .

“ T h a t w a s t h e l a s t t i m e Is a w h e r , ” s h e s a i d .
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Nikki Robinson and her aunt Shirley Williams talk March 8 about the death of 13-month-old

Phaneese Alexander in 2011. Phaneese was Williams’ granddaughter. .

Rodger Mallison - rmallison@star-telegram.com

Shortly after 7 p.m. on Jan. 2, 2011, Williams’ son received a text from his

daughter’s mother.

“Pray for my baby gets better ... she had a seizure due to instant high fever,” it

read.

The mother would later tell authorities that she and her boyfriend had left a

relative’s house and were driving home with Phaneese when they noticed she

appeared to be having a seizure. They drove the girl to Baylor All Saints Cityview

Hospital in Fort Worth.

There, Phaneese was loaded into an ambulance to be transferred to Cook

Children’s Medical Center, but she stopped breathing before leaving the parking

lot.

When Williams and her son arrived at the hospital, medical staff were still
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performing CPR on Phaneese. When the chaplain arrived, Williams knew.

“There Phaneese was — dark, lifeless, with a diaper on and they were doing

compressions,” said Williams, crying. “...So I start praying. I’m like, No, Lord! No!

No! No! And I got the baby and I tried to rub the baby and I knew she was gone. I

just knew she was gone. And they was letting me hold her for the last time.”

When she left the hospital that night, a heartbroken Williams drove around, ending

up at an east Fort Worth police station off East Lancaster Avenue.

“I was just like, I need to tell somebody this. It’s not right,” Williams said.

“They had me sit in a room by myself and write down why I thought it was

suspicious,” she said. “It just crippled me. I knew it was something I needed to do.”

Tarrant County is No. 2 in Texas in the total number of confirmed cases, behind Harris County, but that only tells

part of the story.

By McClatchy

‘There are signs of abuse’

The case would be investigated by Fort Worth Detective P.G. Henz, then with the

Crimes Against Children Unit.


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Henz said he remembers being called to the medical examiner’s office as they were

midway through Phaneese’s autopsy.

“There are signs of abuse. You need to come down here,” he recalled being told.

A CPS report states that the medical examiner initially indicated he believed the

death was caused by a blow to the back, which lacerated the liver.

Phaneese’s mother told authorities that the girl had been sick earlier in the month,

running a fever and throwing up twice, but had seemed fine the day she died.

She denied ever abusing her daughter, or seeing her boyfriend hurt the girl, and

seemed very troubled when told by police about her daughter’s older rib fractures.

When questioned by police, the boyfriend also denied abusing the girl.
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